#### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

\_\_\_\_\_

#### CASE NO. SC11-946

\_\_\_\_\_

#### WILLIAM TURNER,

Appellant,

v.

### STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

## APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE FOURTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT, IN AND FOR DUVAL COUNTY, FLORIDA

#### INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

James C. Lohman jclohman@yahoo.com Florida Bar No. 0570214 1806 East 39th Street Austin, Texas 78722 (512) 542-9947 John R. Hamilton
jhamilton@foley.com
Florida Bar No. 0774103
Adam C. Losey
alosey@foley.com
Florida Bar No. 0069658
Foley & Lardner LLP
111 North Orange Ave., Suite 1800
Post Office Box 2193
Orlando, Florida 32802-2193
Telephone: (407) 423-7656
Facsimile: (407) 648-1743

### PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

This proceeding involves the appeal of the circuit court's summary denial of Turner's successive motion for post-conviction relief. The motion was brought pursuant to rules 3.850 and 3.851 of the Florida Rules of Criminal Procedure.

The following abbreviations will be used to cite to the record in this cause, with appropriate volume and page number(s) following the abbreviation:

"R" -- record on direct appeal to this court;

"PCR" -- record on appeal from initial denial of post-conviction relief;

"PCR2" -- record on appeal from denial of successive motion for post-conviction relief.

#### INTRODUCTION

In <u>Porter v. McCollum</u>, 558 U.S. --, 130 S. Ct. 447 (2009), the United States Supreme Court ruled that this court's <u>Strickland</u> analysis in <u>Porter v. State</u>, 788 So. 2d 917 (Fla. 2001), was "an unreasonable application of our clearly established law." 130 S. Ct. at 455. The Court so ruled despite the requirement in the Anti-Terrorism Effective Death Penalty Act (AEDPA) that federal courts accord deference to state courts' application of federal constitutional law.

Likewise, AEDPA provides that federal habeas relief from a

1

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668 (1984).

state court judgment does not lie merely because a federal court with а state court's application of disagrees constitutional law. Rather, habeas relief is permissible only where the state court's application of federal constitutional law is clearly and unreasonably wrong. The Supreme Court in held that this court's application of Porter Strickland warranted habeas relief even under the strict standards of the AEDPA.

facts and circumstances here are uniquely remarkably similar to those found by the Supreme Court to require habeas relief in Porter. Precisely as in Porter, where trial counsel's failure to present evidence of Porter's Korean War service required federal habeas relief, trial counsel for Turner failed to present evidence to the jury of Turner's combat service in Vietnam. At Turner's penalty phase, his military service was glossed over and the evidence so scant that the prosecutor was able to argue that Turner's claims of Vietnam War combat duty to court-appointed mental health experts were not to be believed and demonstrated a general "lack of credibility." R 1107.

After Turner's jury returned its advisory recommendation of a death sentence, by the barest seven-to-five vote, trial counsel presented evidence of Turner's Vietnam service to the trial judge in the Phase III sentencing portion of the trial. The trial judge, again as in <u>Porter</u>, found that Turner's combat military service was of "no significance." R 307.

This court would be hard-pressed to find another case as squarely on point with <u>Porter</u> as Turner's. Due to the unique similarities between <u>Porter</u> and Turner's case, discussed in far more depth and detail later in this brief, it is incumbent upon this court to assess whether its unreasonable application of <u>Strickland</u> in Turner's case warrants the same relief as that required in Porter.

This court has previously addressed whether a Supreme Court finding that this court misapplied Supreme Court precedent must be given retroactive effect. In <a href="Hitchcock v. Dugger">Hitchcock v. Dugger</a>, 481 U.S. 393 (1987), the Supreme Court granted federal habeas relief because this court had failed to properly apply <a href="Lockett v. Ohio">Lockett v. Ohio</a>, 438 U.S. 586 (1978), where a jury was not instructed that it could and should consider nonstatutory mitigating circumstances when returning an advisory verdict in a capital penalty phase proceeding. Likewise, in <a href="Espinosa v. Florida">Espinosa v. Florida</a>, 505 U.S. 1079 (1992), the Supreme Court summarily reversed a decision in which this court held that <a href="Maynard v. Cartwright">Maynard v. Cartwright</a>, 486 U.S. 356 (1988), was not applicable in Florida because the jury's verdict in a

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> AEDPA was not in effect at the time of the decision in <u>Hitchcock</u>, so there was no requirement that the Supreme Court determine that this court's decision was clearly or unreasonably wrong. The Court's review in <u>Hitchcock</u> was <u>de novo</u>.

Florida capital penalty phase proceedings was merely advisory.<sup>3</sup>

Following the decisions in Hitchcock and Espinosa, this court was called upon to address whether certain individuals whose death sentences had likewise been affirmed by this court under the same misapprehension of federal law could arbitrarily be denied the benefit of the proper construction and application of federal constitutional law. On both occasions, this court determined that fairness dictated that the denial by this court of the proper application of federal constitutional law should permit such individuals to present their claims anew and have those claims judged under the proper constitutional standards. See Thompson v. Dugger, 515 So. 2d 173, 175 (Fla. 1987) ("We hold we are required by this Hitchcock decision to re-examine this matter as a new issue of law"); James v. State, 615 So. 2d 668, 669 (Fla. 1993) (Espinosa to be applied retroactively to James because "it would not be fair to deprive him of the Espinosa ruling").

Turner, whose ineffective-assistance-of-counsel claims were heard and decided by this court before Porter was rendered,

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> The decision by the United States Supreme Court in <u>Espinosa</u> was in the course of direct review of this court's decision affirming a death sentence on direct appeal. The Supreme Court's decision was therefore not subject to the procedural provisions of federal habeas review, and the Supreme Court thus reviewed this court's decision de novo.

seeks in this appeal only the same consideration that Porter received. Turner seeks here to have his ineffectiveness claims reheard and reevaluated using the applicable <u>Strickland</u> standard, <u>i.e.</u>, the standard that the Supreme Court applied in Porter's case to find that a resentencing was warranted.<sup>4</sup>

### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On July 18, 1984, Turner was indicted on two counts of first-degree murder for the deaths of his estranged wife (Count I) and her roommate (Count II). R 11. Turner entered pleas of not guilty. Turner was convicted of first-degree murder on both counts on August 16, 1985. R 190-191. Following a capital penalty phase proceeding, the jury recommended a death sentence on Count I by a vote of seven-to-five, and a life sentence on Count II by a vote of seven-to-five. R 212-213. On November 1, 1985, the trial court sentenced Turner to death on Count I and to life in prison on Count II. R 1451.

On direct appeal, the case was remanded twice for evidentiary hearings concerning Turner's absence from critical stages of his trial. After the remands, Turner's convictions

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> When Porter's case was returned to the circuit court for resentencing, a life sentence was imposed.

and sentences were affirmed by this court on July 7, 1988. Rehearing was denied on September 22, 1988. Turner v. State, 530 So. 2d 45 (Fla. 1988) (McDonald and Barkett, JJ., concur as to guilt but dissent as to penalty). The United States Supreme Court denied certiorari on February 21, 1989, Turner v. Florida, 489 U.S. 1040 (1989) (table), making any motion pursuant to the then-existing version of rule 3.850 of the Florida Rules of Criminal Procedure due on February 21, 1991, under the two-year provision in the rule at that time.

On March 29, 1990, nearly 11 months before his rule 3.850 motion was due under the rule's former two-year time limitation, Florida Governor Bob Martinez signed a death warrant scheduling Turner's execution for May 30, 1990. The Florida Office of Capital Collateral Representative moved for a stay of execution for Turner asserting that they were unable to represent Turner and that outside counsel had to be recruited to handle his case. On April 26, 1990, this court granted a stay of execution until private counsel could be located for Turner. On May 25, 1990, the Tallahassee law firm of Ausley McMullen informed the court that it would represent Turner pro bono, and the court ordered that Turner's rule 3.850 motion be filed by September 25, 1990. That date was extended by the court to October 15, 1990, and Turner's rule 3.850 motion to vacate was filed in the circuit court for Duval County on that date, less than five months after

counsel had been appointed.

With less than five months in which to prepare Turner's post-conviction motion (<u>i.e.</u>, to read and become familiar with his prior trial and appellate proceedings; to investigate the case anew, both as to guilt phase and penalty phase issues; to research all applicable law; to file an original "state habeas petition" in this court; and to file a comprehensive post-conviction motion in the circuit court that would determine whether Turner would live or be put to death), <u>pro bono</u> counsel filed a voluminous motion on Turner's behalf.

The motion was supported by some 78 appendix exhibits that included affidavits from over 45 individuals who knew Turner (lawyers, medical professionals, jail personnel, friends, ministers, co-workers, neighbors, hitherto undiscovered eyewitnesses to the crimes, fellow Vietnam War combat veterans, and others) who were readily available to testify at his trial and penalty phase - but who were never sought or contacted by Turner's trial counsel. A mere 20 days after these voluminous materials were filed, the trial judge summarily denied the motion without granting so much as a court appearance. The denial of relief was affirmed by this court. Turner v. State, 614 So. 2d 1075 (Fla. 1992). Such cursory treatment by the trial court is, of course, no longer permitted after this court's decision in Huff v. State, 622 So. 2d 982, 983 (Fla.

1993) (requiring opportunity to make oral argument in support of post-conviction claims and for entitlement to an evidentiary hearing.)

Contemporaneous with the filing of his rule 3.850 motion in this court, Turner filed an original habeas corpus petition in this court contending, inter alia, that the Florida courts failed at trial and on direct appeal to give proper and due consideration to mitigating evidence presented at his trial penalty phase. In his habeas petition, Turner alleged that the trial court and this court failed to properly consider his mitigating evidence at trial and on direct appeal based on this court's holdings in Campbell v. State, 571 So. 2d 415 (Fla. 1990), revised & superseded on denial of rehearing, 571 So. 2d 415 (Fla. 1990). That petition was denied by this court on December 24, 1992. Turner v. Dugger, 614 So. 2d 1075 (Fla. 1992).

Turner filed his first and only petition for federal habeas corpus relief on or about July 16, 1993. On August 31, 2001, the district court entered an order dismissing claims V(A) and (B) (in part) and IX; and striking Claim XI (instructing that the request for evidentiary hearing be made by separate motion). The court ordered supplemental briefing on the remaining claims. On June 26, 2002, the court denied the petition in its entirety but "without prejudice to Petitioner's right to raise a claim

pursuant to Atkins v. Virginia<sup>5</sup> in a separate petition in this Court, after exhausting such a claim in the state courts."

Order at 291. Turner appealed the denial of habeas corpus relief to the United States Court of Appeals for the Eleventh Circuit. That court affirmed. Turner v. Crosby, 339 F.3d 1247 (11th Cir. 2003). Turner's petition for a writ of certiorari to the United States Supreme Court was denied on May 3, 2004. Turner v. Crosby, 541 U.S. 2104 (2004) (table).

During the pendency of Turner's federal habeas corpus appeal, and after issuance by the United States Supreme Court of its opinion in <a href="Atkins">Atkins</a>, Turner filed a rule 3.850 motion in circuit court grounded on <a href="Atkins">Atkins</a>. On May 6, 2003, the circuit court denied the motion without prejudice to refile at the conclusion of then-pending federal habeas corpus proceedings. On August 18, 2006, Turner refiled a rule 3.850 motion based on the <a href="Atkins">Atkins</a> decision. The circuit court denied relief on September 14, 2009. This court affirmed the denial of relief on September

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> 536 U.S. 304 (2002) (holding that Eighth and Fourteenth Amendments prohibit execution of mentally retarded persons).

28, 2010. <u>Turner v. State</u>, 2010 WL 3802538 (Fla. Sept. 28, 2010).

### STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

The underlying facts of the crime in this case are set forth in two prior opinions of this court. See <u>Turner v. State</u>, 530 So. 2d 45 (1988) (McDonald and Barkett, JJ., concur as to guilt but dissent as to penalty); <u>Turner v. State</u>, 614 So. 2d 1075 (Fla. 1992).

#### TRIAL PRESENTATION

Thirteen months after trial counsel were appointed to this case, Turner went to trial and was convicted of first-degree murder in the deaths of his estranged wife, Shirley, and her roommate, Joyce Brown. One week after the guilt verdicts were rendered, the penalty phase was conducted. At the commencement of the penalty phase, trial counsel informed the court that they "needed additional time within which to prepare" for the penalty phase, for "obtaining various documents," "locating witnesses," and for other basic and necessary trial functions. Counsel told the court that at that time that they could "present only what we have been able to obtain in the last five days." R 1177-78 (emphasis added). Counsel admitted they had not "had time and would not be able to . . . investigate all the circumstances and matters in [Turner's] background" necessary for an adequate presentation of mitigating evidence. R. 1179.

Counsel thus proceeded to the penalty phase, by their own admission, grievously unprepared. Although they had barely scratched the surface of what was available, counsel presented six witnesses on behalf Turner's life: his father, a brother, a coworker, a work supervisor, a school records custodian, and a psychiatrist. The hasty and ill-prepared case was weak and unimpressive, as evidenced by the trial court's order sentencing Turner to death.

Significantly, at the post-jury verdict sentencing phase before the trial court, trial counsel did present evidence of Turner's service in Vietnam. The evidence was obtained and presented, however, after the jury had returned its sentencing recommendation of death, by a seven-to-five vote. The proof of his Vietnam service was therefore unknown to the jury that voted for Turner's death by a one-vote margin.

In its capital sentencing order, the trial court found that counsel had failed to prove that Turner met the criteria for the two statutory mental mitigating factors. As to any nonstatutory mitigation offered or argued at Turner's penalty phase, the court concluded that Turner's military service was of "no significance"; that allegations that he was a "good family man and father" were "not proven"; and that his diligence as an employee was of "little significance." R 307. In the only

trial court finding approximating nonstatutory mitigation, the court found that Turner had "in the past demonstrated concern for others and unselfishness," but considered "the weight" of this factor to be "only slight." Id.

Post-conviction counsel were appointed to Turner's case in April 1990. Less than five months later, Turner filed a rule 3.850 motion and appendix that proffered a wealth of mitigating evidence never sought by or known to his trial lawyers. This readily available evidence probably would have tipped the delicate seven-to-five jury vote in favor of Turner's life. This material was thoroughly pled in Turner's rule 3.850 motion and was documented in the appendix thereto, Apps. 1-78.7

The appendix submitted with Turner's rule 3.850 motion contained volumes of crucial mitigating evidence concerning Turner's life (e.g., his "Baker Act" files and Vietnam War combat records) and sworn statements from dozens of witnesses who were readily identified and located during the five months afforded to post-conviction counsel in which to prepare the motion.

All of these witness could, and would, have described to Turner's jury in compelling and understandable terms the tragic

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> See §§ 921.141(6)(b), (6)(f), Fla. Stat.

References to exhibits that were submitted in the original rule 3.850 appendix are denoted in that motion as "App.\_\_\_," followed by the tab number in that appendix.

road that led to the deaths of Shirley Turner and Joyce Brown. These witnesses were available to describe and detail Turner's difficult childhood and abnormal home life. They were available to testify to his learning disabilities and indicia of mental problems throughout his schooling. They were available attest to the significance of his having a brother with severe mental retardation (an IQ of 35), and a sister who died in childhood of a brain tumor. They would have spoken about his valiant and traumatic Vietnam War combat experiences, his 14 years of loving and devoted marriage and proud responsible fatherhood, and his many years of exemplary and even heroic citizenship. The jury would have heard about Turner's three dramatic life-saving rescues of endangered citizens as a state transportation worker - only one of which was known to the jury that voted to take Turner's life.

Turner's entire life up until the dissolution of his family and his ensuing nervous breakdown was both remarkable and sympathetic. Turner is and was a man with significant mental limitations, who struggled to surmount his impairments, become a good citizen, and escape the mental horrors forever imprinted upon him during his service to the United States in the Vietnam War. Equally important, there were witnesses available who had contact with Turner around the time of the offense who could have enlightened the jury as to his very disturbed state of mind

during that key period. Friends and family who were close to him before his explosion were available to describe what led up directly to the tragedy, but they were never sought or used by trial counsel in this critical aspect of Turner's defense. Apps. 23-28, 30, 45.

Other proffered crucial witnesses, similarly undiscovered by trial counsel, actually <u>saw the offense</u> firsthand. These key individuals were available to describe Turner's obviously deranged state of mind at the time. App. 5-12. There were still other important witnesses who saw and interacted with Turner shortly after the offense who could have testified to his utter disorientation and genuine amnesia of the event, and his extreme remorse upon coming to comprehend months later what he had done. App. 4, 32, 33.

Any one of these over 45 witnesses could have made a difference in the outcome of the penalty proceeding. Had counsel performed the requisite investigation, preparation, and presentation at the penalty phase of Turner's trial, a plethora of mitigating circumstances would have been proven and Turner would not have been sentenced to death. This material, presented to the Florida courts in prior 3.850 proceedings and summarily rejected, includes mitigating evidence of severe mental illness at the time of the offense and undiscovered eyewitnesses to the actual offense.

In affirming Turner's death sentence, this court placed great emphasis on its determination that Turner was <u>not</u> "in an uncontrollable frenzy" at the time of the offense. The court relied entirely on the "testimony of [two] witnesses that Turner temporarily ceased the attack and hid when a policeman drove by, resuming the attack thereafter." <u>Turner v. State</u>, 530 So. 2d 45, 51 (Fla. 1987); <u>see also</u> trial court's sentencing order, R 306 (rejecting "substantially impaired capacity" statutory mitigating factor (6)(f), in part, because "the defendant stopped his attack on Joyce Brown when a police car passed on the street and resumed the attack after the passing").

However, had counsel investigated the crime scene, they would have learned, and the jury and courts would have known, that these two all-important witnesses were wholly unreliable. One of these two witnesses upon whose credibility Turner's life hinged, James Andrews, was a chronic alcoholic "well known in the community" as someone who "can't be trusted or believed." App. 14. See also App. 13 (Affidavit of Andrews himself: "I was kind of high when I was interviewed by the police after the incident. I had the shakes . . . One time I made a fork move with the power of my mind."); and App. 74.

The only other witness on this crucial point was Irene Hall, the 14-year-old daughter of victim Joyce Brown, a witness of questionable reliability given the traumatic and hysterical

circumstances in which her observations were made. She testified - uncorroborated by anyone else - that Turner ran behind a house when the patrol car passed and then returned and resumed stabbing. R. 594, 603.

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