In the Supreme Court of Florida

WILLIAM T. TURNER,

Appellant,

v. CASE NO. SC11-946

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE FOURTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT, IN AND FOR DUVAL COUNTY, FLORIDA

ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEE

PAMELA JO BONDI ATTORNEY GENERAL

CHARMAINE M. MILLSAPS ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL FLORIDA BAR NO. 0989134

OFFICE OF THE ATTORNEY GENERAL THE CAPITOL TALLAHASSEE, FL 32399-1050 (850) 414-3300 COUNSEL FOR THE STATE

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

The successive motion was untimely. The motion was filed twenty years late and there is no exception to the time limitation in the rule that applies. *Porter* did not change the law governing ineffective assistance of counsel claims. *Strickland v. Washington*, 466 U.S. 668, 104 S.Ct. 2052, 80 L. Ed. 2d 674 (1984), was, is, and remains, the law regarding ineffectiveness.

Furthermore, the motion is barred by the law of the case doctrine. This Court rejected the same type of argument in Marek v. State, 8 So.3d 1123 (Fla. 2009), and prohibited relitigation. As this Court held in Marek, capital defendants may not relitigate previously denied claims of ineffectiveness every time a new Supreme Court case is decided applying Strickland.

Even if this Court were to allow relitigation of the claim, it should be rejected on the merits. This case is not similar to the facts of *Porter*. There was no deficient performance. Unlike *Porter*, where defense counsel failed to uncover and present the defendant's combat experience that resulted in PTSD; here, in

contrast, defense counsel discovered and presented Turner's military service. Nor was there any prejudice. Turner, while in the military, was not in any serious combat. Turner did not suffer PTSD as a result of intensive "horrific" combat like *Porter*.

Additionally, Turner's claim of error applies only to the prejudice prong but both prongs of Strickland must be met to grant relief. This claim of ineffectiveness was rejected in federal habeas based on the deficient performance prong; the prejudice prong was not even addressed by the Eleventh Circuit. Turner seeks to relitigate an aspect of the ineffectiveness claim, i.e., the prejudice prong, that did not matter in the courts' rejection of this ineffectiveness claim in the first round of ligation. Thus, the successive Porter motion was properly summarily denied as untimely, barred by the law of the case doctrine, and meritless.

ARGUMENT

ISSUE I

WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT PROPERLY DENIED THE SUCCESSIVE 3.851 MOTION ATTEMPTING TO RELITIGATE A CLAIM OF INEFFECTIVENESS FOR FAILING TO PRESENT MILITARY SERVICE AS MITIGATION BASED ON PORTER V. MCCOLLUM, 558 U.S. -, 130 S.Ct. 447, 175 L.Ed.2d 398 (2009)? (Restated)

Turner asserts that this Court's prejudice analysis of his claim of ineffectiveness for failing to present military service as mitigation in the initial post-conviction motion was flawed based on Porter v. McCollum, 558 U.S. -, 130 S.Ct. 447, 175 L.Ed.2d 398 (2009). First, the successive motion was untimely. The motion was filed twenty years late and there is no exception to the time limitation in the rule that applies. Furthermore, the motion is barred by the law of the case doctrine. As this Court held in Marek, capital defendants may not relitigate previously denied claims of ineffectiveness every time a new Supreme Court case is decided applying Strickland. Even if this Court were to allow relitigation of the claim, it should be rejected on the merits. This case is not similar to the facts of Porter. In Porter, defense counsel failed to uncover and present the defendant's extensive combat experience that resulted in PTSD. Here, in contrast, defense counsel discovered and presented Turner's military service. There was no deficient performance. Nor was there any prejudice. Turner, while in the military, was not in any major battle. Rather, Turner came under sniper fire one time. Turner did not suffer PTSD as a result of intensive combat like Porter. Thus, the successive Porter motion was

properly summarily denied as untimely, barred by the law of the case doctrine, and meritless.

The trial court's ruling

On November 30, 2010, Turner filed a successive 3.851 post-conviction motion in the trial court asserting that he should be permitted to relitigate a previously raised claim of ineffectiveness for failing to present military service as mitigation based on Porter. (PC Vol. I 1-38). On December 28, 2010, the State filed an answer to the successive motion. (PC Vol. I 80-117). On February 16, 2011, the trial court conducted a case management conference regarding the successive motion at which counsel for the defendant and counsel for the State presented arguments. The State submitted a proposed order summarily denying the successive motion. The defendant filed an objection to the State's proposed order. (PC Vol. I 148). On April 11, 2011, the trial court adopted the State's proposed order. (PC Vol. I 151-164).

The trial court summarily denied the successive motion as "untimely, barred by the law of the case doctrine, and meritless." (PC Vol. I 151). The trial court found the successive motion untimely and that 3.851(d)(1)(B) did not apply because Porter "did not establish a new constitutional right" and "did not alter the existing Strickland standard in any manner." (PC Vol. I 152-153). The trial court also found that the successive motion was barred by the law of the case doctrine citing Marek v. State, 8 So.3d 1123, 1126-1129 (Fla. 2009). (PC Vol. I 153-154). Additionally, the trial court found the

claim of ineffectiveness to be meritless. (PC Vol. I 156-159). The trial court concluded that there was no deficient performance because defense counsel, Hank Coxe, investigated and presented Turner's Vietnam military service as mitigation. (PC Vol. I 157). The trial court also found no prejudice from the failure to develop military service more fully because Turner did not see extensive combat in Vietnam. (PC Vol. I 158). Rather, Turner was under sniper fire only one time. (PC Vol. I 158). The trial court noted that even if Turner could establish prejudice from Porter, his failure to establish deficient performance was fatal to his claim of ineffectiveness because Strickland requires a showing of both prongs. (PC Vol. I 159). The trial court also rejected the additional claims of ineffectiveness. (PC Vol. I 159-161).

Standard of review

The standard of review of a trial court's summary denial of a successive 3.851 post-conviction motion is de novo. Darling v. State, 45 So.3d 444, 447 (Fla. 2010) (explaining that because a trial court's summary denial is based on the pleadings before it, its ruling is tantamount to a pure question of law and is subject to de novo review discussing Ventura v. State, 2 So.3d 194 (Fla. 2009)). Rule 3.851(f)(5)(B) permits the denial of a successive postconviction motion without an evidentiary hearing "[i]f the motion, files, and records in the case conclusively show that the movant is entitled to no relief." The phrase "conclusively show" is not limited to factual matters; the phrase also allows a summary denial as a matter of law.

If there is controlling precedent from this Court that is directly on point, then a trial court may summarily deny the successive motion. For example, this Court has routinely affirmed summary denials of lethal injection claims on this basis. See e.g. Tompkins v. State, 994 So.2d 1072, 1081 (Fla. 2008) (noting that this "Court has repeatedly rejected appeals from summary denials of Eighth Amendment challenges to Florida's August 2007 lethal injection protocol since the issuance of Lightbourne" citing cases). A trial court may decided as a matter of law that the movant is entitled to no relief as this trial court properly did.

Timeliness

The successive 3.851 post-conviction motion was untimely. The rule of criminal procedure governing collateral relief in capital cases contains a time limitation that requires any post-conviction motion be filed within one year. The motion is untimely pursuant to 3.851(d)(1)(B). Under the rule any post-conviction motion must

Specifically, rule 3.851(d)(1), provides:

⁽¹⁾ Any motion to vacate judgment of conviction and sentence of death shall be filed by the prisoner within 1 year after the judgment and sentence become final. For the purposes of this rule, a judgment is final:

⁽A) on the expiration of the time permitted to file in the United States Supreme Court a petition for writ of certiorari seeking review of the Supreme Court of Florida decision affirming a judgment and sentence of death (90 days after the opinion becomes final); or (B) on the disposition of the petition for writ of certiorari by the United States Supreme Court, if filed.

be filed within one year of Turner's convictions and sentence becoming final. Turner's convictions and death sentence became final on February 22, 1989, the day after the United States Supreme Court denied his petition for writ of certiorari in the direct appeal. Turner v. Florida, 489 U.S. 1040, 109 S.Ct. 1175, 103 L.Ed.2d 237 (1989)(NO. 88-6101). This successive motion was filed in November of 2010. The successive motion was over twenty years late.

The rule contains three exceptions to the time limitation, none of which apply. The Florida Supreme Court has held that *Porter* did not supply a basis for a newly discovered evidence claim and did not restart the clock. *Grossman v. State*, 29 So.3d 1034, 1042 (Fla. 2010)(finding a trial court's summary denial of a third successive motion to be proper and affirming that the motion was untimely because *Porter* did not change the law regarding consideration of non-statutory mitigation and was not newly discovered evidence). So, controlling precedent holds that the exception for new facts in 3.851(d)(1)(B) does not apply.

⁽²⁾ No motion shall be filed or considered pursuant to this rule if filed beyond the time limitation provided in subdivision (d)(1) unless it alleges:

⁽A) the facts on which the claim is predicated were unknown to the movant or the movant's attorney and could not have been ascertained by the exercise of due diligence, or

⁽B) the fundamental constitutional right asserted was not established within the period provided for in subdivision (d)(1) and has been held to apply retroactively, or

⁽C) postconviction counsel, through neglect, failed to file the motion.

Turner is attempting to use the exception in rule 3.851(d)(2)(B), which restarts the clock for a new fundamental constitutional right that has been held to apply retroactively. Turner asserts that *Porter* is a new fundamental constitutional right that applies retroactively. It is not.

In Porter, the Supreme Court per curiam reversed the Eleventh Circuit's finding that the Florida Supreme Court's determination there was no prejudice was a reasonable application of Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668, 104 S.Ct. 2052, 80 L.Ed.2d 674 (1984). Agreeing with the district court, the Supreme Court was persuaded that it was objectively unreasonable to conclude there was no reasonable probability the sentence would have been different if the sentencing judge and jury had heard the significant mitigation evidence that Porter's counsel neither uncovered nor presented. Porter did not establish a new constitutional right. Rather, it is merely an application of Strickland to a particular case. The Porter Court merely found prejudice under the existing prejudice framework. Contrary to Turner's assertion, the Supreme Court in Porter did not change the prejudice analysis - dramatically or otherwise. that counsel was ineffective in violation of the Sixth Amendment right to counsel was, is, and remains, governed by Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668, 104 S.Ct. 2052, 80 L.Ed.2d 674 (1984) including the prejudice prong. Porter did not overrule Strickland. The Porter Court itself repeatedly referred to Strickland and therefore, reaffirmed the Strickland standard. Porter contains several paragraphs describing the Strickland standard which cited Strickland repeatedly. Porter, 130 S.Ct. at 452-454. This section of the Porter opinion starts with the sentence: "To prevail under Strickland, Porter must show that his counsel's deficient performance prejudiced him" and then cites Strickland six times. Porter, 130 S.Ct. at 452. The Porter opinion ends by once again citing Strickland. Porter, 130 S.Ct. at 456. The Porter Court did not at any point change the prejudice prong of Strickland.

Moreover, the United States Supreme Court had repeatedly referred to the Strickland standard in numerous opinions since Porter. Cullen v. Pinholster, - U.S. -, -, 131 S.Ct. 1388, 1408, 179 L.Ed.2d 557 (2011)(observing that the "Strickland standard must be applied with scrupulous care."); Harrington v. Richter, - U.S. -, -, 131 S.Ct. 770, 787, 178 L.Ed.2d 624 (2011)(discussing the *Strickland* standard). Additionally, this Court has recently discussed the standard for ineffectiveness citing Porter in support of its discussion of the Strickland standard in numerous cases. Hildwin v. State, - So.3d -, -, 2011 WL 2149987 (Fla. 2011); Franqui v. State, 59 So.3d 82, 94-95 (Fla. 2011); Troy v. State, 57 So.3d 828, 836 (Fla. 2011). In one of those cases, this Court stated: "Strickland does not require a defendant to show that counsel's deficient conduct more likely than not altered the outcome of his penalty proceeding, but rather that he establish a probability sufficient to undermine confidence in that outcome. Porter v. McCollum, - U.S. -, -, 130 S.Ct. 447, 455-56, 175 L.Ed.2d 398 (2009)(quoting Strickland, 466 U.S. at 693-94)." Troy, 57 So.3d at 836. The Florida Supreme Court obviously does not think that Porter overruled Strickland. Turner cites no appellate court

decision from any court as describing *Porter* as overruling or significantly altering *Strickland*. *Porter* did not alter the existing *Strickland* standard in any manner.

Furthermore, the Florida Supreme Court has directly held, in this context, the Sixth Amendment right to effective assistance of counsel context, that refinements or clarifications in Strickland jurisprudence are not retroactive. Johnston v. Moore, 789 So. 2d 262, 266-267 (Fla. 2001)(holding that Stephens v. State, 748 So.2d 1028, 1033-1034 (Fla. 1999), which clarified the standard to be used in reviewing ineffective assistance of counsel claims, was not retroactive under Witt v. State, 387 So.2d 922 (Fla. 1980)). In the earlier case of Stephens v. State, 748 So.2d 1028, 1033-1034 (Fla. 1999), this Court clarified the standard of review that applied to Strickland claims of ineffectiveness. But Porter did not even involve a clarification or refinement of the law like Stephens. Rather, Porter was a mere application of standard law to a particular case. The successive motion was untimely.

Law of the case

The claim of ineffectiveness raised in the successive 3.851 motion is barred by the law of the case doctrine. Under the law of the case doctrine, questions of law actually decided on appeal govern the case through all subsequent stages of the proceedings. Florida Dep't of Transp. v. Juliano, 801 So.2d 101, 105 (Fla. 2001). A defendant cannot relitigate claims that have been denied by the trial court where that denial has been affirmed by an appellate court. State v.

McBride, 848 So.2d 287, 289-290 (Fla. 2003)(noting that the law of the case doctrine applies to post-conviction motions); Tatum v. State, 27 So.3d 700, 704 (Fla. 3rd DCA 2010)(finding the claims in a 3.800 motion to be barred by the law of the case doctrine because they were previously addressed by the Third District in an earlier appeal). As the Florida Supreme Court has explained, if a matter has already been decided, the petitioner has already had his or her day in court, and for purposes of judicial economy, that matter generally will not be reexamined again in any court. Topps v. State, 865 So.2d 1253 (Fla. 2004).

Turner is seeking to relitigate the exact same ineffectiveness claim in this successive post-conviction motion that he raised in his first post-conviction motion. Turner is once again claiming that his trial attorney, former Florida Bar president Hank Coxe and co-counsel, Daniel Smith, were ineffective at penalty phase for not presenting his military service as mitigation. That same claim of ineffectiveness for failing to present military service in greater detail was raised in the initial post-conviction motion. rejected that particular claim of ineffectiveness. Indeed, four courts have rejected this claim of ineffectiveness - the trial court, the Florida Supreme Court, a federal district court, and the Eleventh Circuit. Turner v. Dugger, 614 So.2d 1075 (Fla. 1992); Turner v. Crosby, No. 93-01057-CV-J-20 (Fla. M.D.); Turner v. Crosby, 339 F.3d 1247, 1278-1279 (11th Cir. 2003). Turner may not relitigate the same claim for a second time after this Court affirmed. The entire successive motion is barred by the law of the case doctrine.

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